

To: Members of Standards Committee Date: 23 January 2014

Direct Dial: 01824 706204

e-mail: dcc_admin@denbighshire.gov.uk

Dear Member of the Committee.

You are invited to attend a meeting of the STANDARDS COMMITTEE to be held at 10.00 am on FRIDAY, 31 JANUARY 2014 in CONFERENCE ROOM 1B, COUNTY HALL, WYNNSTAY ROAD, RUTHIN LL15 1YN.

Yours sincerely

G. Williams Head of Legal and Democratic Services

AGENDA

PART 1: THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE INVITED TO ATTEND THIS PART OF THE MEETING

1 APOLOGIES

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business identified to be considered at this meeting.

3 URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR

Notice of items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972.

4 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING (Pages 3 - 10)

To receive the minutes of the Standards Committee meeting held on 25 October 2013 (copy enclosed).





5 REGISTRATION OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS (Pages 11 - 18)

To consider a report by the Monitoring Officer (copy enclosed) detailing the legislative changes relating to the Register of Members' Interests.

6 ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

To note the attendance by members of the Standards Committee at County, Town and Community Council and to receive their reports.

7 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Standards Committee is scheduled for 10.00 a.m. on Friday 14 March 2014 in Conference Room 1b, County Hall, Ruthin.

PART 2: CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS

It is recommended in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following item(s) of business because it is likely that exempt information as defined in paragraphs 12 and 13 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed.

8 CODE OF CONDUCT - PART 3 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

To note that since the last meeting there have been no changes to the confidential report on complaints against members lodged with the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.

MEMBERSHIP

Independent Members:

Rev Wayne Roberts, Mr Ian Trigger (Chair), Ms Margaret Medley and Mrs Paula White

Town/Community Council Member Councillor David E Jones

County Councillors
Councillor Bill Cowie
Councillor Colin Hughes

COPIES TO:

All Councillors for information Press and Libraries Town and Community Councils

STANDARDS COMMITTEE

Minutes of a meeting of the Standards Committee held in Conference Room 1b, County Hall, Wynnstay Road, Ruthin LL15 1YN on Friday, 25 October 2013 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

Independent Members – Ms. Margaret Medley, Reverend Wayne Roberts, Mr. Ian Trigger (Chair) and Mrs. Paula White together with County Councillor Bill Cowie and Community Councillor David Jones

ALSO PRESENT

Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal and Democratic Services (GW) and Committee Administrator (KEJ)

Ms. Annie Ginwalla, Investigating Officer – Public Services Ombudsman for Wales was in attendance for item 4.

1 APOLOGIES

Councillor Colin Hughes

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

No declarations of personal or prejudicial interest were raised.

3 URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR

No urgent matters were raised.

4 CONSIDERATION OF REPRESENTATIONS AND FINAL DETERMINATION OF A REPORT PREPARED BY THE PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES UNDER SECTION 71(2)(C) THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 (REF 2871/201002627)

The Chair extended a warm welcome to Ms. Annie Ginwalla, Investigating Officer – Public Services Ombudsman for Wales who was in attendance for this item. All present were introduced and the manner and order of proceedings was explained. Members confirmed that they had previously received copies of the Ombudsman's Investigation Report and the opportunity to study the documentation in advance.

The Committee was asked to consider the findings of the Ombudsman's Investigation Report regarding an allegation that former County Councillor Allan Pennington had failed to comply with the Council's Code of Conduct together with any representations made by former Councillor Pennington in respect of those findings, and to make a final determination in relation to the matter. Mr. Pennington was not in attendance at the meeting and had failed to respond to correspondence from the Council or provide any written representations in response to the

Ombudsman's findings. The Monitoring Officer advised that in preparation for the hearing Mr. Pennington had been written to on two occasions – the second letter had been sent via recorded delivery and signed for on receipt although the signatory had not been clear. On that basis the Committee was satisfied that in all probability Mr. Pennington had received notice of the hearing and all the necessary documentation. Consequently the Committee agreed to proceed with the hearing in Mr. Pennington's absence.

Ms. Annie Ginwalla, Investigating Officer presented the Ombudsman's report on the investigation. She detailed the allegations, legal background and relevant legislation, and provided an analysis of the evidence obtained during the investigation including disputed facts together with conclusions made.

In summary the Committee was advised of the following –

- a complaint had been received that former Councillor Pennington had failed to observe the Code of Conduct for members of Denbighshire County Council on 8 December 2010, when he attended a meeting of the Licensing Committee. It was alleged that the former Councillor should have declared a personal interest at this meeting as a consequence of his employment as a taxi driver when a matter concerning the Private Hire vehicle testing regime was discussed and voted upon
- the former Councillor denied that he had an interest and that he participated in the voting on the items concerned. Evidence received from members and staff present at the meeting confirmed that the former Councillor did not declare an interest; he was involved in the discussions and was included in the voting on a number of proposals concerning the taxi trade
- the investigation concluded that the business conducted at the meeting related to or was likely to affect former Councillor Pennington's employers and had the potential to affect his employment also, thereby giving rise to a personal and prejudicial interest. The investigation also identified that former Councillor Pennington failed to update his statutory register within 28 days of commencing his employment as a taxi driver in July 2008
- on the basis of the evidence obtained during the investigation, the Ombudsman was satisfied that former Councillor Pennington's conduct may have breached paragraphs 10(1), 11(1), 14(1)(a) and 15(2) of the Code. Consequently the report had been referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration by the Council's Standards Committee.

The Ombudsman's concern regarding allegations made by former Councillor Pennington against council officers during the investigation was also highlighted. Those claims had been perceived as malicious and an attempt to undermine officers and their evidence. It was a matter for the Committee to determine whether the former Councillor had breached paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code by having brought the office of member into disrepute by his conduct during the investigation.

In response to questions Ms. Ginwalla confirmed it was appropriate for the Committee to consider any further potential breaches of the Code identified during the investigation process. She also confirmed that former Councillor Pennington had been made aware of the potential breach of paragraph 6(1)(a).

The Committee retired to deliberate in private on the representations as to matters of fact and whether former Councillor Pennington had failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. After a discussion of all the issues raised, in particular the disputed facts as detailed in paragraph 52 of the Investigation Report, the Monitoring Officer announced their unanimous findings of fact that former Councillor Pennington –

- had participated in the voting on the matters decided at the meeting
- had a personal interest in items 3, 4 & 5 of the meeting
- should have been aware of that interest and declared it during the meeting
- did have a prejudicial interest in items 3, 4 & 5 of the meeting
- should not have remained at the meeting
- failed to update his statutory register of members' interests in accordance with his obligations under paragraph 15(2) of the Code.

The Committee then considered whether, based on the facts it had found, former Councillor Pennington had failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. In applying the findings of fact the Committee found breaches of paragraphs 10(1), 11(1), 14(1)(a) and 15(2) of the Code of Conduct.

The Committee also considered whether there had been a breach of paragraph 6(1)(a) and had been particularly concerned in respect of this allegation. Based on former Councillor Pennington's conduct during the investigation as described within the report and detailed within the appendices to the report the Committee unanimously agreed that his conduct did amount to a breach of paragraph 6(1)(a).

The reasons for the Committee's decision had been based on the Ombudsman's representations detailed within the Investigation Report and the Committee had concurred with those submissions. In terms of the unfounded allegations made by the former Councillor against council officers the Committee was also keen to express their confidence in those officers.

At this point Ms. Ginwalla, Investigation Officer was invited to make representations as to whether or not the Committee should apply a sanction and what form any sanction should take. She advised that the Ombudsman felt it would be appropriate to impose a censure in the circumstances to reflect the serious nature of the breaches and serve as a reminder to the former Councillor and other councillors the importance of the Code and the responsibility the Code places upon them. As Mr. Pennington was no longer a councillor sanctions were limited otherwise a more severe sanction would have been sought. The Chair sought clarification regarding the application of a sanction to particular breaches and the Monitoring Officer advised the Committee to consider the conduct in totality as opposed to individual breaches. He detailed the process to be followed if a sanction was to be imposed and publication of the Committee's decision.

The Committee retired to deliberate in private on the representations that former Councillor Pennington should be censured. In view of the nature of the breaches, particularly with regard to the breach of paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code the Committee unanimously concluded that there should be a public censure of former

Councillor Allan Pennington. The Committee was keen to highlight that they would have imposed a more severe sanction if that option had been available to them.

RESOLVED that former Councillor Allan Pennington be publicly censured.

The reasons for the decision were that the Committee had unanimously agreed with the reasons detailed in the Ombudsman's Investigation Report for both the findings of fact and breaches of the Code of Conduct.

The Chair thanked Ms. Ginwalla for her comprehensive report and presentation.

At this juncture (11.30 a.m.) the meeting adjourned for a refreshment break.

5 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

The minutes of Standards Committee held on 7 June 2013 were submitted.

Accuracy -

Page No. 23 – Item No. 9 Attendance at Meetings – Councillor Bill Cowie asked that reference to 'W.E. Cowie' be amended to 'W.L. Cowie'. Councillor David Jones also asked that 'The Community Council had expressed their confidence in their Clerk...' be amended to 'The Community Council clearly had confidence in their Clerk...'

RESOLVED that, subject to the above, the minutes of the meeting held on 7 June 2013 be received and approved as a correct record.

6 PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES' ANNUAL REPORT 2012/13

The Monitoring Officer (MO) submitted a report (previously circulated) informing members of the Annual Report of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales for the year 2012/13. The Ombudsman's Report had been included as an appendix.

Members' attention was drawn to the following headline messages –

- complaints about the conduct of members received during 2012/13 fell by 29% compared to the previous year which had been largely attributed to 2011/12 being an election year; inappropriate use of the complaints system and the success of local resolution
- complaints relating to unitary authorities having reduced from 178 in 2011/12 to 150 in 2012/13 and in City, Town and Community Councils from 205 in 2011/12 to 140 in 2012/13 (the reduction in complaints about Prestatyn Town Councillors in 2012/13 could account for that decrease)
- the majority of complaints received during 2012/13 related to equality and respect (35%), accountability and openness (19%), disclosure and registration of interests (18%) and integrity (18%)
- 371 complaints closed in 2012/13 with 283 closed after initial consideration,
 18 in which the investigation was discontinued, 23 where there was no evidence of a breach and 15 where no action was deemed necessary only

- 20 cases were referred for a hearing, 15 to Standards Committees and 5 to the Adjudication Panel for Wales
- the statistical breakdown of outcomes by local authorities with 4 complaints having been closed in respect of Denbighshire Members after initial consideration with no matters resulting in an investigation.

Other matters of interest included changes to working practices and changes to guidance arising from the High Court decision relating to Councillor Calver of Manorbier which the Committee had discussed previously. The Ombudsman's support for a voluntary cap on the level of indemnities provided to members in standards cases had also been referenced within the report together with the use of legislation to impose a cap if voluntary agreement was not secured.

The Committee noted the contents of the report and the Chair thanked the Monitoring Officer for extracting the relevant matters for members' consideration.

RESOLVED that the contents of the Ombudsman's revised guidance be noted.

7 CAP ON MEMBER INDEMNITIES FOR CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS

The Monitoring Officer (MO) submitted a report (previously circulated) seeking a recommendation to Council that the indemnities available to members involved in Code of Conduct hearings be capped at a maximum figure of £20,000.

The scale of indemnities provided by local authorities to members had been the subject of much debate with concerns expressed by the WLGA, the Ombudsman and the Chair of the Adjudication Panel for Wales in that regard. The view of the WLGA and the Ombudsman had been detailed within the report for further consideration. The Committee had informally discussed the issue of indemnities previously and had supported a cap and now considered the merits of the formal recommendation as detailed within the report, noting the proposed amendment to the form of indemnity as attached in the appendix to the report. During the ensuing debate the MO responded to members' questions confirming that the figure of £20,000 was a cap and not a target figure and that if it was found that a member had breached the Code of Conduct they must repay the money – the indemnity was intended for those maliciously or wrongly accused. In terms of procedure it would be the responsibility of the Corporate Governance Committee to determine applications for a cost indemnity and the amount of that indemnity.

Members supported the recommendations detailed within the report and it was -

RESOLVED that it be recommended to Corporate Governance Committee and Council –

- (a) that the Corporate Governance Committee considers, on a case by case basis, each application for a costs indemnity in order to decide whether an indemnity should be given at all;
- (b) that if, in any individual case, an indemnity is to be given in respect of matters relating to a breach of the Members' Code of Conduct, the Corporate

Governance Committee should decide on the amount of that indemnity up to a maximum of £20,000, and

(c) that the Council's Constitution and form of indemnity be amended as necessary to reflect these decisions.

8 ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

Members of the Standards Committee reported upon their attendance at meetings of the County, Town and Community Councils as follows –

Reverend Wayne Roberts routinely attended meetings of the County Council as the Chairman's Chaplain and reported upon the meeting held on 10 September 2013 when the Investigator's Report on the floods at Glasdir, Ruthin had been considered. A good debate had taken place and Reverend Roberts congratulated the Chair on his control of the meeting and reported that the general behaviour had been excellent.

Councillor Bill Cowie reported upon excellent, well run meetings of St. Asaph City Council with no issues of concern.

The Chair reported upon his attendance at Llanarmon yn Ial Community Council on 3 July 2013 at which there was a friendly atmosphere. There were nine Community Councillors present and despite a member of the public exceeding the time allocated for his address at the meeting, the Chair handled the meeting well in a firm and friendly manner. The only issue was some discussion about a matter which was unrelated to the agenda. The Chair advised he had been given the opportunity to impress upon the Community Council the importance of training and whilst the Council had appeared keen there were some concerns about cost. He had advised that Code of Conduct training was provided free of charge with future sessions being held in the Summer and invitations sent out in the Spring. The Monitoring Officer advised that training sessions for Chairs and Vice Chairs would also be held soon after the Annual General Meetings but a small charge would be made as an external training provider would be used. He also advised members that Denbigh Town Council had contacted him seeking specific training on declarations of interest.

Reverend Wayne Roberts stated his intention to attend a meeting at Denbigh Town Council and Councillor David Jones hoped to attend the Llanbedr DC Community Council meeting on 5 November 2013.

RESOLVED that the verbal reports from members attending meetings be received and noted.

9 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The Standards Committee's next meeting had been scheduled for 10.00 a.m. on Friday 22 November 2013 in Conference Room 1B, County Hall, Ruthin.

The Monitoring Officer advised there were no formal items for consideration at that meeting but issues available for discussion related to (1) Amendments to the Member/Officer Protocol, and (2) Update from the Welsh Government on Joint Standards Committees. The item on Social Media Guidance would not be ready in time for that meeting. In the absence of any pressing matters the Committee agreed to defer consideration of those two issues to their January meeting and cancel the meeting scheduled for 22 November. If any urgent issues arose during the interim a special meeting of the Committee would be arranged.

RESOLVED that the next meeting of the Standards Committee scheduled for 22 November 2013 be cancelled.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it would involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12 and 13 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

10 CODE OF CONDUCT - PART 3 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

A confidential report by the Monitoring Officer (MO) was submitted (previously circulated) providing an overview of complaints against members lodged with the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales since 1 April 2012.

Members noted the outcome of those complaints recently completed and considered the status of ongoing complaints. The MO advised that two of the ongoing complaints were to be discontinued and the third had been dealt with by the Committee earlier on the agenda. The Chair commented on the lengthy time taken to complete the complaints process in particular cases and the benefits of a swift resolution.

RESOLVED that report be received and noted.

Prior to the close of the meeting and at the request of Councillor David Jones, the Monitoring Officer clarified the distinction between predetermination and predisposition and provided a number of examples to illustrate the difference. Councillors had been advised to speak with the Monitoring Officer if they had any doubt in this regard.

The Chair thanked members for their contribution to the meeting and also thanked the Monitoring Officer for his assistance.

The meeting concluded at 12.20 p.m.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Report To: Standards Committee

Date of Meeting: 31st January 2014

Lead Member / Officer: Gary Williams, Monitoring Officer

Report Author: Gary Williams, Monitoring Officer

Title: Registration of Members' Interests

1 What is the report about?

1.1 The report is about the change to the law regarding the registration of members' interests

2 What is the reason for making this report?

2.1 To bring the change in the law to members' attention and seek the Committee's endorsement of the course of action proposed to ensure that the County Council and Town and Community Councils are complying with the new requirements.

3 What are the Recommendations?

3.1 That Members note the legislative changes relating to the Register of Members' Interests and approve the steps being taken to ensure that the Council is in compliance with those changes.

4 Report details.

- 4.1 The Local Government Act 2000 ("the 2000 Act") provides the legislative framework for the regulation of the conduct of elected members. The 2000 Act introduced the mandatory requirement for a code of conduct for elected members and for members to sign an undertaking to observe the terms of the Code.
- 4.2 A key component of the ethical framework is the need for transparency in decision making and the declaration by members of their interests in any item of business that they are considering as part of their role as a councillor.
- 4.3 Members are required under paragraph 15 of the Code of Conduct to register their financial and other interests that fall within a category mentioned in paragraph 10(2)(a) of the Code, within 28 days of their election or appointment to office.
- 4.4 The form which Members are asked to complete in order that their interests may be registered is attached as Appendix 1 to this report.

- 4.5 Members are required by the Code to register any new interest or any change to a registered interest within 28 days of becoming aware of the new or changed interest.
- 4.6 The requirement to register does not, subject to the Monitoring Officer's agreement, apply to sensitive information, which is defined by the Code as being information whose availability for inspection by the public creates, or is likely to create, a serious risk that a member or a person with whom the member lives may be subjected to violence or intimidation. There is however a requirement to notify the Monitoring Officer of any change in circumstances which means that the information is no longer sensitive, and to ask that it be included on the register within 28 days of becoming aware of that change in circumstances.
- 4.7 Section 81 of the 2000 Act requires that the Monitoring Officer for each relevant authority establishes and maintains a Register of Members' Interests. The Register is to be made available for inspection by the public. The Council currently issues each member with a register of interests form after each local government election, and these are retained in paper form on a file in County Hall which may be inspected.
- 4.8 Section 58 Local Democracy (Wales) Act 2013 ("the 2013 Act") amends Section 81 of the 2000 Act by introducing a requirement to publish the Register of Members' Interests electronically. There is a further requirement to advertise in a local newspaper that the Register is published electronically. The advertisement should also set out how the electronic register may be accessed.
- 4.9 Section 58 is not yet in force, however a number of local authorities have already published their registers electronically as a matter of good practice and this Council needs to be ready to publish electronically as soon as the law comes into force, if not before.
- 4.10 In preparing for the implementation of the changes, Democratic Services officers have made electronic versions of the English and Welsh forms and are now in a position to publish the Registers of Members' Interests on the Council website, linked to each Councillors' profile page. Before we do this, Councillors and co-opted members will be asked to review their current register and update them if necessary.
- 4.11 The situation regarding Town and Community Councils is that the Clerk will be responsible for ensuring the electronic version of the Register of Interests is published, although the Code at paragraph 15(4) does not require members of Town and Community Councils to register. Some Town and Community Councils do maintain a register and it would therefore appear that where they do so maintain a register it should be published electronically. Advice will be given to Town and Community Council Clerks as to the legal position when it becomes clearer.

- 5 How does the decision contribute to the Corporate Priorities?
- 5.1 Although not directly linked to the corporate priorities, the introduction of the electronic publication of the Register of Members' Interests is consistent with the modernisation of the council.
- 6 What will it cost and how will it affect other services?
- 6.1 There are no direct costs associated with this report.
- 7 What consultations have been carried out and has an Equality Impact Assessment Screening been undertaken?
- 7.1 There is no need for an equality impact assessment.
- 8 Chief Finance Officer Statement
- 8.1 There are no direct costs associated with this report.
- 9 What risks are there and is there anything we can do to reduce them?
- 9.1 There is a risk that the registers will not be regularly updated by members. Regular reminders to members to check that their registered interests are up to date will help to reduce this risk.
- 10 Power to make the Decision
- 10.1 Section 81 Local Government Act 1972

This page is intentionally left blank



MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT REGISTER OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

Notification of Interests

Name of Member.....

The law, and the Member's Code of Conduct, require you to declare personal interests. Some personal interests have to be recorded by you in the statutory public register, within 28 days of your election, or appointment to office, and have to be updated by you within 28 days of any change. (There is an exemption from having to declare 'sensitive information', the Monitoring Officer can advise you about this). Within the first few weeks of office, you may be nominated to represent the Council on an outside body (see Section 2 (a) of this form). Please ensure that you provide an update should you be appointed to such a body.
Please provide details of all interests that the Members' Code of Conduct requires you to register in the spaces provided below. Please state 'None' where applicable. Please remember that you still have to declare any relevant interests (including those in this Register) where they relate to matters under consideration at a meeting – please see the Member's Code of Conduct for guidance.
SECTION 1: FINANCIAL INTERESTS
(a) Give details of any employment or business carried on by you.
(b) State the name of the person who employs or has appointed you, the name of any firm in which you are a partner, and/or the name of any company for which you are a remunerated Director.

(c) State the name of any person, (other than a county council, county borough council, community council, fire authority or National Park authority), who has made a payment to you either in respect of your election or any other expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a Member.
(d) State the name of any corporate body which has a place of business or land in the Council's area, and in which you have a beneficial interest in a class of securities of that body that exceeds a nominal value of £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body.
(e) Describe any contract for goods, services or works made between the Council and yourself or a firm in which you are a partner, a company of which you are a remunerated Director, or a body of the description specified in paragraph (d) above.
(f) Give the address or other description (sufficient to identify the location) of any land in which you have a beneficial interest* and which is in the area of the Council.
* This means being the owner, landlord or tenant of land or property (including your home), other than under a trust. (g) Give the address or other description (sufficient to identify the location) of any land where the landlord is the Council and the tenant is a firm in which you are a partner, a company of which you are a remunerated Director, or a body of the description specified in paragraph (d) above.

(h) Give the address or other description (sufficient to identify the location) of any land in the Council's area in which you have a licence (whether alone or jointly with others) to occupy for 28 days or longer.
SECTION 2: OTHER INTERESTS State whether you are a member of, or hold a position of general control or management in any:
(a) body to which you were appointed or nominated by the Council as its representative.
(b) public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature
(c) company, industrial and provident society, charity or body directed to charitable purposes
(d) body whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy
(e) Trade Union or professional association

(f) private club, society or association operating within the Authority area.
When you have completed this form, please sign and date below and return to Monitoring Officer, County Hall, Wynnstay Road, Ruthin, LL15 1YN
Signed Date

Please note that you must notify the Monitoring Officer of any changes to the interests declared above, within 28 days of becoming aware of such changes.